
MINUTES 
CITY OF NORCO 

CITY COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING 
CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 2820 CLARK AVENUE 

DECEMBER 13, 2010 

 
 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER:  Mayor Hanna called the meeting to order at 
7:00 p.m. 

 
2. ROLL CALL:     Mayor Berwin Hanna 

       Mayor Pro Tem Kevin Bash 
        Council Member Kathy Azevedo 
    Council Member Harvey C. Sullivan 
  
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE:  Council Member Azevedo  
  
 INVOCATION:    Council Member Sullivan 
 
4. PUBLIC COMMENTS OR QUESTIONS:  No public comments received. 
 
5. CITY COUNCIL ITEM FOR ACTION: 
 

A. Appointment to the City Council Due to the Passing of Former Mayor Malcolm 
Miller 

 
The City of Norco is saddened by the passing of Former Mayor Malcolm Miller 
on November 17, 2010. In accordance with California Government Code 
§36512, within 30 days of commencement of a vacancy the City Council must fill 
the vacancy by appointment, or call a special election.  At a Special Meeting 
held on November 24, 2010, the City Council voted to solicit applications in 
order to make an appointment within the legally mandated 30-day time frame.  
Fifteen (15) applications were accepted by the deadline and verified as 
registered voters of the City of Norco.  The City Council will consider, from those 
applicants, an appointment to fill the vacant Council Member seat for a term of 
office beginning on December 15, 2010, with the oath of office being 
administered at the end of the Regular City Council Meeting, and ending in 
November of 2011. 
 
Recommended Action:  Adopt Resolution No. 2010-___, making an 
appointment to fill the unexpired City Council term of Malcolm Miller. 

 
City Manager Groves introduced the City Council item. 
 
Mayor Hanna stated that if any of the candidates wish to address the Council prior to the 
voting process, they should first fill out a speaker card and submit it to the City Clerk, which 
allowed for a 3-minute period of time to present final comments to the Council.  He noted that 
this is also the time to hear public comments on this item.   
 



City Council Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 2  
December 13, 2010 
 
Linda Dixon.  Ms. Dixon encouraged the Council to make its decision based on what is best 
for Norco.  She commented on her contributions to the City and noted that she is ethical, 
honest, fair and strong.  She further noted that she looks forward to serving the people of 
Norco. 
 
Arthur C. Fisher.  Mr. Fisher commented on his contributions to the City of Norco in the past 
9 years and further commented that he has worked with many different councils and 
educators.  He stated that he could serve the City well.  
 
Thomas J. Price.  Mr. Price commented on his resume as submitted and added that he wrote 
the song “Horsetown USA” and is also very creative.  He noted that he has the time to devote 
to the City.  He further stated that with the state of the economy, the Council should let the 
voters decide who should fill the vacant seat through a special election.   
 
Lance Gregory.  Mr. Gregory stated that the reason he submitted his application is because 
he is hardworking and passionate about the City and just recently became involved in the City 
to better understand the processes.  He noted that the decision made is for the good of the 
people the Council represents.   
 
Barry Edward Mileski.  Mr. Mileski stated that the “Norconians” helped him form his opinions 
on the City.  He noted that he has good communication skills and understands the challenges 
faced by the Council.   
 
Vernon Showalter.  Mr. Showalter stated that he has missed very few Council meetings and 
believes he can do an excellent job for the City and the people.  He noted that this is 
Horsetown USA, but further noted that there are also people that live in the City that also have 
needs that need to be addressed.   
 
Curtis Coombs.  Mr. Coombs stated that he is a volunteer with the California State Disaster 
Response Program and has also volunteered with the forest service.  He noted that as a 
business owner that deals with many municipalities in many states, he has an understanding 
of what many cities and jurisdictions face and therefore, he brings a unique perspective to the 
Council.   
 
Frank Hall.  Mr. Hall stated that with his 12 years previously sitting on the City Council, he 
can hit the ground running.  He commented on his previous medical issues and noted that 
they are totally under control and are in his past.  He further noted that he has all the energy 
needed to serve on the Council.   
 
Greg Newton.  Mr. Newton stated that he has lived in Norco for the past 16 years and has 
been very active in keeping Norco animal friendly.  He noted that he currently serves on the 
Planning Commission and his past experience exhibits his commitment.  He further noted that 
he is aware of the current issues faced and understands the funding sources for them.   
 
Joshua David Mickley.  Mr. Mickley stated that he has the educational background to aid in 
researching the agendas that come before the City Council.  He noted that he supports the 
lifestyle of Norco and this is where he wants to live.  He further noted that being financially 
sound is important for the City.   
 



City Council Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 3  
December 13, 2010 
 
Brent Sakamoto.  Mr. Sakamoto commented on his understanding of the Silverlakes 
development and the need to keep tourism focused in Norco.  He noted that it is important to 
fill all the vacant businesses and also stated that it is important to market and protect the 
City’s unique lifestyle.   
 
Herbert Higgins.  Mr. Higgins sent an email stating “I have a scheduled church function and 
will not be able to attend.” 
 
Laurie LoFranco.  Ms. LoFranco sent an email stating that she would not be able to attend 
the meeting. 
 
Pat Overstreet.  Ms. Overstreet spoke about the difficult decision the Council has with 
Malcolm Miller significantly raising the bar.  She noted that experience in the City’s affairs 
from past participation is important and further stated her support for Greg Newton and Linda 
Dixon.   
 
Su Bacon.  Ms. Bacon stated that she supports Pat Overstreet’s comments and noted her 
support for Greg Newton and Linda Dixon. She stated that this is a difficult decision and 
should not be based on loyalty and friendship.     
 
The following candidates, in alphabetical order, submitted an application by the deadline date 
and time indicating their desire to be considered for appointment to the City Council and were 
confirmed by the Riverside County Registrar of Voters office to be registered voters of the City 
of Norco: 
 

Rhonda Sue Arellano 
Curtis Coombs 
Linda Dixon 
Arthur C. Fisher 
Lance Gregory 
Frank Hall 
Herbert Higgins 
Laurie LoFranco 
Joshua David Mickley 
Barry Edward Mileski 
Greg Newton 
Jim Nolan 
Thomas J. Price 
Brent Sakamoto 
Vernon Showalter 

 
Mayor Hanna stated that to begin the process, each Council Member will receive Ballot 
Number One, where they will each vote for two (2) persons.  There will not be a first and 
second choice, and the purpose of the first vote will only be to limit the applicant list to eight 
(8) or less.   



City Council Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 4  
December 13, 2010 
 
 
The City Clerk read each ballot as follows: 
 
Mayor Hanna voted for Linda Dixon and Greg Newton 
Mayor Pro Tem Bash voted for Linda Dixon and Greg Newton 
Council Member Azevedo voted for Frank Hall and Greg Newton 
Council Member Sullivan voted for Linda Dixon and Vernon Showalter 
 
Mayor Hanna stated that the Council will each receive Ballot Number Two, where they will 
each vote for one (1) person from the remaining candidate list: 
 
The City Clerk read each ballot as follows: 
 
Mayor Hanna voted for Linda Dixon 
Mayor Pro Tem Bash voted for Greg Newton 
Council Member Azevedo voted for Frank Hall 
Council Member Sullivan voted for Linda Dixon 
 
Mayor Hanna stated that the Council will each receive Ballot Number Three, where they will 
each vote for one (1) person from the remaining candidate list: 
 
The City Clerk read each ballot as follows: 
 
Mayor Hanna voted for Linda Dixon 
Mayor Pro Tem Bash voted for Greg Newton 
Council Member Azevedo voted for Greg Newton 
Council Member Sullivan voted for Linda Dixon 
 
Mayor Hanna stated that the Council will each receive Ballot Number Four, where they will 
each vote for one (1) person from the remaining candidate list: 
 
The City Clerk read each ballot as follows: 
 
Mayor Hanna voted for Greg Newton 
Mayor Pro Tem Bash voted for Greg Newton 
Council Member Azevedo voted for Greg Newton 
Council Member Sullivan voted for Linda Dixon 
 
M/S Bash/Azevedo to adopt Resolution No. 2010-70, appointing Greg Newton to fill the 
unexpired City Council term of Malcolm Miller, which expires in November of 2011. The 
motion was carried by the following roll call vote:   
 
AYES: AZEVEDO, BASH, HANNA 
NOES: SULLIVAN 
ABSENT: NONE 
ABSTAIN: NONE 



City Council Special Meeting Minutes 
Page 5  
December 13, 2010 
 
 
6. ADJOURNMENT:  There being no further business to come before the City Council, 

Mayor Hanna adjourned the meeting at 7:45 p.m. 
 
 

________________________________ 
BRENDA K. JACOBS 

CITY CLERK 
 

 
bj-77291 
 


